A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER. 

Petitioner, State of Washington, respondent below, asks this Court to 

accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this 

petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. 

Petitioner, State of Washington, seeks review ofthe published 

opinion, filed on March 19, 2014, in State v. Marsele Kenith Henderson, 

COA 42603-0-11 (attached as Appendix A), in which the Court of Appeals 

reversed defendant's conviction for first degree murder and remanded for 

a new trial. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had abused its 

discretion when it declined to instruct the jury on first degree 

manslaughter1 as a lesser included crime of first degree murder by extreme 

indifference2
• The court reversed because it determined that this Court's 

ruling in State v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005), changed 

the State's burden to prove manslaughter, and thereby brought 

manslaughter closer to first degree murder with extreme indifference. 

1 9A.32.060( I )(a) A person is guilty of manslaughter in the first degree when he or she 
recklessly causes the death of another person. 
2 9A.32.030(1Xb) A person is guilty of murder in the first degree where, under 
circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life, he or she engages in 
conduct which creates a grave risk of death to any person, and thereby causes the death of 
a person. 
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Appendix A at 8. The court held that, because Gamble changed the 

definition of reckless with regard to manslaughter, the factual prong of the 

Workman3 test was satisfied. Appendix A at 9. The court's ruling has the 

effect of overruling its earlier opinions of State v. Pettus, 89 Wn. App. 

688,951 P.2d 284, rev. denied, 136 Wn.2d 1010,966 P.2d 904 (1998), 

and State v. Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. 463, 972 P.2d 557, rev. denied, 138 

Wn.2d 1007,984 P.2d 1035 (1999). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

1. Is the Court of Appeals ruling in this case in conflict with 

this Court's decision in State v. Dunbar where it removes any factual 

distinction between first degree murder by extreme indifference and first 

degree manslaughter? 

2. Is there a split between Division I and Division II of the 

Court of Appeals where the divisions have reached opposite conclusions 

based on substantially similar facts? 

3 State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 584 P.2d 382 (I 978). To establish that an offense is 
a lesser included offense, first, each of the elements of the lesser offense must be a 
necessary element of the offense charged (the legal prong); second, the evidence in the 
case must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed (the factual prong). 
Workman, 90 Wn.2d at 447-48. 

-2- Henderson petrev.doc 



3. Should the trial court's refusal to provide an instruction on 

first degree manslaughter as a lesser included offense of first degree 

murder by extreme indifference be upheld where the evidence did not 

satisfy the factual prong of the Workman test? 

4. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion when it 

admitted evidence of defendant's gang affiliation where such evidence 

was relevant to show motive and was not unduly prejudicial? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

A jury convicted MARSELE KENITH HENDERSON, hereinafter 

"defendant," of one count of first degree murder by extreme indifference. 

Appendix A The charge arose from defendant's attempt to retaliate 

against a rival gang for the shooting death of one of defendant's fellow 

gang members earlier in the evening. Appendix A During the shooting, 

defendant stood in the street front of a house where a crowded4 party was 

being held and yelled "this is Hilltop," and ''what's up cuz," before he 

fired six shots from a semi automatic weapon into the crowd of people in 

the front of the house. RP 233,237-38,636,686, 856, 938, 1024. One 

4 It was unclear how many people were at the party at the time of the shooting, but one of 
the party-goers estimated that there were 130-200 people present approximately 30 
minutes prior to the shooting, and were located in both the front and back yards of the 
property. RP 187, 193-97. There were still approximately 30 people present by the time 
law enforcement arrived. RP 133. 

- 3 - Henderson petrev.doc 



man died as a result of being struck with bullet that went through his torso. 

RP 544. 

Defendant asked the court to instruct the jury on first and second 

degree manslaughter as lesser included crimes to first degree murder by 

extreme indifference. RP l 032. The trial court reviewed two Division II 

cases, State v. Pettus, 89 Wn. App. 688, 951 P .2d 284, rev. denied 136 

Wn.2d 1010,966 P.2d 904 (1998); State v. Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. 463, 

972 P.2d 557, rev. denied, 138 Wn.2d 1007,984 P.2d 1035 (1999), and 

ultimately concluded that defendant was not entitled to the instructions 

because the facts of the case did not satisfy the factual prong in Workman. 

RP 1125-28, 1191. 

On March 19, 2014, Division II of the Court of Appeals reversed 

defendant's conviction, holding that, under the facts of this case, first 

degree manslaughter was a lesser included offense to first degree murder 

by extreme indifference. Appendix A. The court also held that the trial 

court did not abuse its discretion when it declined to give the second 

degree manslaughter instruction. Appendix A. Because the case was 

remanded for a new trial, Division II did not reach the issue regarding 

gang affiliation evidence. Appendix A. 
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E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED. 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN THIS CASE 
IS IN CONFLICT WITH STATE V. DUNBAR 
BECAUSE IT ELIMINATES ANY FACTUAL 
DISTINCTION BETWEEN FIRST DEGREE MURDER 
BY EXTREME INDIFFERENCE AND FIRST DEGREE 
MANSLAUGHTER. 

Here, the Court of Appeals reversed defendant's conviction 

because it concluded that this Court's ruling in State v. Gamble, 154 

Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005), "changed the State's burden to prove 

manslaughter, requiring the State to show that the defendant knew of and 

disregarded a substantial risk that a homicide may occur, as opposed to 

merely a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur." Appendix A at 

8. Yet Gamble did not change the definition of recklessness, but merely 

discussed what "wrongful act" was required to prove manslaughter versus 

assault. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d at 467. The Gamble Court held that, 

because the "wrongful act" in each crime was different, the crimes were 

legally distinct. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d at 463-64. Thus first degree 

manslaughter is not a lesser included crime to felony murder where the 

predicate felony is assault because the legal prong of Workman is not met. 

Gamble, 154 Wn.2d at 469. 

In this case, the wrongful act being homicide goes to the reason 

why first degree murder by extreme indifference and first degree 

manslaughter contain the same elements and thus satisfy the legal prong of 
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the Workman test. It does not automatically follow that the crimes are 

both homicides in that they are factually identical. The Court of Appeals 

decision below removes any factual distinction between first degree 

murder by extreme indifference and first degree manslaughter, essentially 

because both crimes involve unintentional homicides through reckless 

behavior and overlooks the fact that first degree murder by extreme 

indifference requires more than ordinary recklessness. 

InState v. Dunbar, 117 Wn.2d 587,594,817 P.2d 1360 (1991), 

this Court discussed the difference between first degree murder by 

extreme indifference and first degree manslaughter. The State sought to 

charge Dunbar with attempted first degree murder by extreme 

indifference. This Court held that, because the crime did not contain an 

intent element, a person could not be charged with attempted murder by 

extreme indifference. The State argued that by removing any element of 

intent, the crime was indistinguishable from first degree manslaughter. 

This Court disagreed and held that first degree murder under RCW 

9A.32.030(1)(b) was not synonymous with first degree manslaughter 

because ofthe different levels ofrisk involved: 

RCW 9A.32.060(l)(a) provides a person is guilty of first 
degree manslaughter when "[h]e recklessly causes the death 
of another person." However, first degree murder by 
creation of a grave risk of death requires more than 
ordinary recklessness. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court 
has stated: 
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The "depraved mind" standard is distinct from, and is not a 
species of, recklessness or negligence. "To constitute a 
depraved mind, more than a high degree of negligence or 
recklessness must exist. ... " 

(Citation omitted.) Randolph v. State, 83 Wis.2d 630, 639-
40,266 N.W.2d 334 (1978) (quoting State v. Weso, 60 
Wis.2d 404,411,210 N.W.2d 442 (1973)). LaFave and 
Scott distinguish manslaughter and murder by creation of a 
grave risk of death by the presence of a "very high degree 
of risk" in the murder context as opposed to a mere 
"unreasonable risk" in the manslaughter setting. W. LaFave 
& A. Scott,§ 7.4(a) at 618. The presence ofthe greater 
degree of risk elevates the level of recklessness to an 
extreme level, thus "manifesting an extreme indifference to 
human life." Although the boundary is not exact, we 
interpret RCW 9A.32.030(1)(b) to require an aggravated or 
extreme form of recklessness which sets the crime apart 
from first degree manslaughter. W LaFave & A. Scott,§ 
7.4(a) at 618. 

Dunbar, 117 Wn.2d at 594. Hence, the Dunbar decision shows that, 

when differentiating between murder by extreme indifference and 

manslaughter, it is not the risk of death that is the difference between the 

crimes, but the amount of risk involved. 

This Court has not directly opined on the question of whether first 

degree manslaughter is a lesser included offense of first degree murder by 

extreme indifference, but two cases from Division II were on point. In 

both of these cases, the defendant was charged with first degree murder by 

extreme indifference. In both Pettus and Pastrana, Division II held in 

cases that the factual prong of the Workman test was not satisfied; 

therefore neither defendant was entitled to a lesser included instruction on 
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first degree manslaughter. Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. at 471-72; Penus, 89 

Wn. App. at 700. 

In Pen us, the defendant was convicted of first degree murder by 

extreme indifference after driving alongside the car of his victim and 

firing at it. 89 Wn. App. at 691-92. "The first shot hit the [victim's car] 

in front of the rear tire. The second shot hit [the victim] in the left arm and 

penetrated his chest. Two other shots passed nearby or through the 

windshield and exited through the plastic rear window." Penus, 89 Wn. 

App. at 692. The court concluded that: 

(t]he evidence of the force of a .357 magnum, the time of 
day, the residential neighborhood, and Pettus's admitted 
inability to control the deadly weapon, particularly from a 
moving vehicle, does not support an inference that Pettus's 
conduct presented a substantial risk of some wrongful act 
instead of a "grave risk of death." 

Penus, 89 Wn. App. at 700. 

In Pastrana, the defendant was driving on the interstate when 

another car cut in front of him. 94 Wn. App. at 469. 

Pastrana retrieved a gun from behind the seat[,] ... rolled 
down the passenger window and fired one shot out the 
window, directly in front of [the passenger's] face. 

After he fired the gun, (the passenger] asked Pastrana what 
he was thinking. Pastrana replied that he was aiming for a 
tire. [The passenger] mentioned that "it's kind of hard to be 
aiming at anything when you are going down the freeway 
that fast." 
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Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. at 469. The court then held that "indiscriminately 

shooting a gun from a moving vehicle is precisely the type of conduct 

proscribed by RCW 9A.32.030(l)(b)." Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. at 471. 

The Court of Appeals decision below abrogates its holdings in 

Pettus and Pastrana based on the Pettus finding that the facts in that case 

did not support an inference that the defendant's conduct presented a 

substantial risk of some wrongful act instead of a grave risk of death. 

Appendix A at 7-8. The court reasoned that, because Gamble defined the 

"wrongful act" in manslaughter to be a homicide, a substantial risk of 

death and a grave risk of death are factually similar. Yet a grave risk of 

death is not synonymous with a substantial risk of death. The court 

incorrectly focused on the risk of death rather than the amount of risk 

involved. This ruling removes the factual distinction between ordinary 

recklessness and the creation of a very high degree of risk as associated 

with first degree murder by extreme indifference. Hence, the Court of 

Appeals ruling in this case is in conflict with Dunbar. 

As the Court of Appeals decision in this case was in conflict with 

Supreme Court decisions, the Court should grant review under RAP 

13.4(b )(1 ). 
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2. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN THIS CASE 
SHOWS THAT THERE IS A SPLIT IN 
INTERPRETATION OF WHETHER FIRST DEGREE 
MANSLAUGHTER IS A LESSER INCLUDED 
OFFENSE OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER BY 
EXTREME INDIFFERENCE BETWEEN DIVISIONS I 
AND II. 

Clarification of this issue is necessary because there is a conflict 

between the divisions. In 2013, Division I of the Court of Appeals issued 

an unpublished opinion in State v. Sitthivong5
, 68030-7-1. There, relying 

on both Pettus and Pastrana, Division I held that the defendant was not 

entitled to a lesser included instruction because the crimes did not meet the 

factual prong of Workman. Division I did not discuss Gamble at any 

point in its opinion, nor did it call into question the validity of either 

Pettus or Pastrana. Moreover, the facts in the present case and in 

Sitthivong are nearly identical, as Sitthivong's crime involved his firing 

eight shots down a crowded street, killing one person and injuring another. 

As Sitthivong is an unpublished case, there is no split in authority between 

the divisions of the Court of Appeals; however, the fact that Division I and 

II reached entirely different conclusions based on substantially identical 

fact patterns shows that there is a conflict between the divisions. 

'State v. Sitthivong, 115 Wn. App. 1021 (2013 WL 3091054), rev. denied, 179 Wn.2d 
1002,315 P.3d 531 (2013). 
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3. IF THIS COURT DOES GRANT REVIEW, IT SHOULD 
ALSO CONSIDER THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE 
TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT 
ADMITTED EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S GANG 
AFFILIATION. 

On direct appeal, defendant also alleged that the trial court abused 

its discretion when it admitted evidence of his gang affiliations. Because 

the Court of Appeals reversed defendant's conviction and remanded for a 

new trial based on instructional error, it declined to reach the issue of the 

admission of gang evidence. If this Court accepts review but does not 

address this issue, the case would be remanded to Division II to decide the 

question and would then, again, be subject to discretionary review by this 

Court. If review is granted, the State respectfully requests this Court to 

also address the gang evidence issue in order to secure finality of 

judgment in a timely manner and in the interest of judicial economy. 

F. CONCLUSION. 

The Court of Appeals ruling on this case is in conflict with existing 

Supreme Court decisions, and two divisions of the Court of Appeals hi:lVe 

reached opposite conclusions based on substantially similar facts. The 
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State respectfully requests this Court to accept review, vacate the Court of 

Appeals' decision reversing defendant's conviction, and reinstate the 

jury's finding of guilt and the trial court's sentence.