RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 25, 2014, 4:39 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK



No. 90154-6

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

MARSELE HENDERSON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711



##

### A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND RELIEF REQUESTED

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) and (d), Respondent Marsele Henderson asks this Court to deny the State's petition for review.

In the alternative, if this Court grants review, Mr. Henderson asks the Court to review whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Henderson's motion to instruct the jury on second-degree manslaughter.

### B. ISSUES

- 1. As the State acknowledges, the legal prong of the *Workman*<sup>1</sup> test is satisfied here, and the only dispute is whether "under the facts of this case" an instruction on a lesser-included offense was warranted.

  Petition at 4. There is no constitutional issue, and Division Two's opinion in this case is consistent with Division One's opinion in *State v. Peters*, 163 Wn. App. 836, 261 P.3d 199 (2011) and this Court's decisions in *State v. Gamble*, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005) and *State v. Dunbar*, 117 Wn.2d 587, 817 P.2d 1360 (1991). Did the State fail to show a basis for granting review under RAP 13.4(b)?
- 2. If this Court nevertheless grants review, should it also review the question of whether an instruction on second-degree manslaughter should have been given?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978).

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Marsele Henderson with first degree murder by extreme indifference. CP 1. Specifically, the prosecution alleged that Mr. Henderson "did unlawfully and feloniously, under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life, engage in conduct which created a grave risk of death, thereby causing the death of Victor Schwenke." CP 1.

At trial, evidence was presented showing that either Mr. Henderson or his friend, D'Orman McClarron, fired shots at a party and that Mr. Schwenke died as a result. Slip Op. at 2. The State's theory was not that Mr. Schwenke was specifically targeted but that Mr. Henderson was upset about the recent murder of his friend and therefore fired indiscriminately into a crowd. Slip Op. at 2.

Mr. Henderson asked the court to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offenses of manslaughter in the first and second degree. CP 80-89. A person is guilty of manslaughter in the first degree if he recklessly causes the death of another. RCW 9A.32.060(1)(a). A person is guilty of manslaughter in the second degree if he negligently causes the death of another. RCW 9A.32.070(1).

The State initially **agreed** that the jury should be instructed on first-degree manslaughter:

MR. GREER: Well, legally, both technically are legal lessers. ... And then in analyzing, of course, just logically, if a person comes as in the facts suggested in this case, and anger, you know, goes and the first person not necessarily intending on killing that person even, but, "this is Hilltop," shoot, shoot, shoot, you know, that does two things at the same time. One, it creates, obviously, there is people around, grave risk that someone is going to die, and somebody did in this case. But it's also clearly reckless conduct which, by definition, Mr. Quillian provided the definition, that, "knows [of and disregards] a substantial risk." He filled in, instead of "an act," he filled in the word "death" in this instruction, that a death would occur. And they are very close, obviously. It's hardly a difference.

THE COURT: So it's whether grave risk of death to another is different from substantial risk that a death may occur.

MR. GREER: Right. ... Because you have to look at ... what could the jury find? Is there evidence to support the lesser? And let's say, hypothetically, he is there to scare, "This is Hilltop," boom, boom, boom, scare, and somebody dies, that's obviously reckless."

RP 1063-65.

However, a few days later, the State reversed course. The deputy prosecutor said, "the State's had a significant change in its position." RP 1125. He acknowledged that first-degree manslaughter "is a legal lesser" of first-degree murder by extreme indifference, but cited two older cases for the proposition that it did not meet the "factual prong" of the analysis under these circumstances. RP 1125 (citing *State v. Pastrana*, 94 Wn. App. 463, 972 P.2d 557 (1999); *State v. Pettus*, 89 Wn. App. 688, 951 P.2d 284 (1998)).

The court declined to instruct the jury on the lesser-included offenses, over Mr. Henderson's repeated objections. RP 1127-29, 1191.

On appeal, Mr. Henderson argued, inter alia, that the trial court erred in following *Pettus* and *Pastrana*, because these cases had been abrogated by subsequent opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. *See* Supplemental Brief of Appellant (filed 8/29/13) (citing *State v. Gamble*, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005); *State v. Peters*, 163 Wn. App. 836, 261 P.3d 199 (2011)).<sup>2</sup> Mr. Henderson pointed out that under current caselaw, the State was correct initially when it agreed that the instructions for manslaughter should have been given.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Henderson that the trial court should have instructed the jury on first-degree manslaughter. In so holding, the court followed this Court's decision in *Gamble* and Division One's opinion in *Peters*. Slip Op. at 4-9. The Court of Appeals recognized that the dispute in this case was only about the factual prong of the analysis, and that "the State concedes that the *Workman* test's legal prong was satisfied." Slip Op. at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Henderson filed a supplemental brief in the Court of Appeals after undersigned counsel was appointed. For reasons unknown to current counsel, the Court of Appeals removed prior counsel from this case (and other cases) after initial briefing was filed.

#### D. ARGUMENT

# 1. Review is unwarranted because the issue is factual and there is no conflict.

None of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) applies. The State has always conceded that the legal prong of the *Workman* test is satisfied.

Accordingly, the only dispute was whether an instruction on the lesser-included offense was warranted under the facts of this case. *See* Petition for Review at 4 (acknowledging that the Court of Appeals' holding was based on "the facts of this case"); Slip Op. at 8 ("Because the State conceded that the *Workman* test's legal prong was satisfied, the only question before us is whether the *Workman* test's factual prong was satisfied"). A case-specific factual issue is inappropriate for this Court's review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Furthermore, the State's claim of conflict is disingenuous. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with this Court's decisions in *Dunbar* and *Gamble*, and with Division One's opinion in *Peters*.

The prosecutor argues that the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case conflicts with dicta in *Dunbar*, 117 Wn.2d 587. The State is incorrect; the relevant section of *Dunbar* supports Mr. Henderson's argument. The *Dunbar* court discussed the fact that first-degree

manslaughter is a legal lesser of first-degree murder by extreme indifference, because the former requires recklessness and the latter requires an aggravated form of recklessness. *Dunbar*, 117 Wn.2d at 594. This is exactly why the parties have always agreed that the legal prong of the *Workman* test is satisfied. Indeed, the Court of Appeals cited *Dunbar* in its analysis in this case, and properly quoted and applied its definition of the relevant mens rea. Slip Op. at 6.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case is consistent with this Court's more recent decision in *Gamble*. There, this Court clarified that "to prove manslaughter the State must show [the defendant] knew of and disregarded a substantial risk that a homicide may occur." *Gamble*, 154 Wn.2d at 467 (emphasis in original); *see also* WPIC 10.03 (2008) (updating definition of "reckless" in jury instructions for first-degree manslaughter following *Gamble*). The trial court in Mr. Henderson's case wrongly refused to instruct the jury on manslaughter based on an outdated definition of recklessness, ruling that because manslaughter requires disregarding a risk of "any wrongful act," as opposed to "death," the evidence did not support a finding of manslaughter to the exclusion of murder. RP 1125-29 (citing *Pastrana*, 94 Wn. App. at 470-71; *Pettus*, 89 Wn. App. at 700-01). Earlier in the proceedings, when the parties and the court were evaluating the issue

using the correct definition of "reckless," the State had conceded that the manslaughter instruction should be given. RP 1063-65. The Court of Appeals simply recognized that the State's original concession was correct under this Court's decisions in *Gamble* and *Dunbar*.

Furthermore, Division Two's opinion in this case is consistent with Division One's opinion in *Peters*, 163 Wn. App. 836, 261 Pd 199 (2011). In *Peters*, the Court of Appeals reversed a conviction for first-degree manslaughter where the jury had been instructed:

A person is reckless or acts recklessly when he knows of and disregards a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur and this disregard is a gross deviation from conduct that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation.

Peters, 163 Wn. App. at 845 (emphasis in original). Division One held that the instruction lowered the State's burden of proof and violated due process because in order to convict a defendant of first-degree manslaughter, the State must prove he knew of and disregarded a substantial risk that death may occur, not just that some wrongful act may occur. *Id.* at 850-51.

The State does not acknowledge Division One's published opinion in *Peters*, and claims there is a conflict between Divisions One and Two based on an unpublished Division One opinion. Petition at 10. Citation to this unpublished opinion is improper under GR 14.1. Because the

allegedly inconsistent opinion is unpublished, it creates no conflict whatsoever; trial courts follow published opinions, not unpublished opinions.<sup>3</sup> See id. Trial courts reading Division One's opinion in Peters, Division Two's opinion in Mr. Henderson's case, and this Court's decisions in Gamble and Dunbar, will have no trouble applying the law because all of these cases are consistent with each other. There is no basis for review in this case.

# 2. If this Court grants review, it should also review the second-degree manslaughter issue.

As explained above, this Court should deny review. However, if review is granted, this Court should also review the question of whether the trial court should have instructed the jury on second-degree manslaughter. The Court of Appeals held an instruction on second-degree manslaughter was not warranted on the facts of this case.

Just as the definition of "reckless" for purposes of first-degree manslaughter must reference a risk of death rather than a risk of any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Furthermore, it is clear that Division One's unpublished opinion did not even address *Gamble* and *Peters*, presumably because the argument was not made. *See State v. Sitthivong*, 2013 WL 3091054; *see also* Brief of Appellant Sitthivong at <a href="http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A01/680307%20Appellant's.pdf">http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A01/680307%20Appellant's.pdf</a> #search=Sitthivong (not making argument Mr. Henderson made). If Division One had rejected an argument based on *Gamble* and *Peters* – and if the opinion were published – there might be a conflict and perhaps review would be appropriate. But because neither of these conditions is satisfied, review is unwarranted.

wrongful act, the same is true of the definition of "negligence" for purposes of second-degree manslaughter:

The statutory definition of criminal negligence is written in terms of failing to be aware of a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur. See RCW 9A.08.010(1)(d); WPIC 10.03, Recklessness— Definition. For the crime of manslaughter, however, the Supreme Court's opinion in State v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d 457, 114 P.3d 646 (2005), suggests the application of a more particularized analysis of criminal negligence. In Gamble, the court held that recklessness involves disregarding a substantial risk that a death may occur, whereas the usual definition of recklessness involves disregarding a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur. State v. Gamble, 154 Wn.2d at 467–68 (in the context of analyzing whether first degree manslaughter is a lesser included offense of second degree felony murder with assault as the predicate felony). By analogy, criminal negligence for manslaughter would correspondingly involve failure to be aware of a substantial risk that a death may occur. Accordingly, for a manslaughter case, the definition of criminal negligence from WPIC 10.04 should be drafted by filling in that instruction's blank line with "death" rather than by using "wrongful act." For further discussion of Gamble, see the Comments to WPIC 10.03 (Recklessness—Definition) and 10.04 (Criminal Negligence—Definition).

Comment to WPIC 28.06 (emphases in original); see also Comment to WPIC 10.04. Accordingly, the trial court erred in denying the motion to instruct the jury on second-degree manslaughter on the basis that manslaughter involves a substantial risk that any wrongful act may occur. RP 1128.

Although the Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Henderson that an instruction on first-degree manslaughter was warranted on the facts of this case, it disagreed that an instruction on second-degree manslaughter was

warranted. Slip Op. at 10. If this Court grants the State's petition, it will have to engage in an in-depth review of the record to determine whether the Court of Appeals properly held that the facts viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Henderson warranted the instruction on first-degree manslaughter. *See State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (facts must be viewed in light most favorable to party requesting instruction). If the Court will be engaging in this review, it should also review the record to determine whether an instruction on second-degree manslaughter is appropriate.

### E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Henderson respectfully requests that this Court deny review. In the alternative, the Court should grant review of the second-degree manslaughter issue as well.

DATED this 25th day of April, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,

Lila J. Silverstein – WSBA 38394

Washington Appellate Project Attorney for Respondent